STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Berkeley County

RECEIVED

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

FEB 24 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JERAMY DALE PARKS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002050

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in charging that the testimony of the victim in this sexual abuse case need not be corroborated, in violation of State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016)?

2.

Did the trial court err in ruling that the child complainant was a competent witness based solely on its viewing of the tape of the forensic interview, refusing to examine the child in court, refusing the defense's request for an independent competency evaluation, and in refusing to allow the defense to conduct *voir dire*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 11, 2014, a Berkeley County grand jury indicted appellant Jeramy Dale Parks for five counts of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, two counts of unlawful conduct toward a child, and one count of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 509 – 516. On September 14, 2015, appellant was tried before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury. R. 1. Anne Williams and Debbie Herring-Lash represented the State. R. 2. David Schwacke and Debbie Littlejohn represented appellant. R. 2. The trial judge severed one of the unlawful conduct toward a child counts. R. 28, ll. 9 – 14. The jury convicted appellant of five counts of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and one count of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, but acquitted appellant of the remaining charge of unlawful conduct toward a child. R. 468, l. 4 – 469, l. 20. Judge Jefferson sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of thirty years' imprisonment on the first-degree criminal sexual conduct charges and a consecutive term of fifteen years' imprisonment on the third-degree criminal sexual conduct charge. R. 506, l. 20 – 507, l. 10. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in charging that the testimony of the victim in this sexual abuse case need not be corroborated, in violation of *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016).

The trial court erroneously charged the jury that the testimony of a victim in a sexual abuse case does not need to be corroborated. R. 456, l. 22 – 457, l. 2. See *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). The issue is preserved for appeal. At the charge conference, the trial judge stated that she intended to give the *Stukes* charge. R. 400, ll. 18 – 22. Trial counsel objected at the charge conference; the court overruled the objection and gave the charge. R. 402, ll. 7 – 404, l. 23. R. 456, l. 22 – 457, l. 2. Because the error is clear, appellant anticipates the State will argue that the error is harmless.

The error in this case cannot be harmless because the credibility of the child complainant (“Child”) was very much at issue. The trial judge used this as one of her justifications for giving the *Stukes* charge. Judge Jefferson stated that sexual abuse cases “are credibility contests that comes down to one person’s word against another. . . .” R. 404, ll. 3 – 12. The court found that “the law is very clear and therefore reason based on legislative intent that the word of a victim need not be corroborated.” R. 404, ll. 3 – 12. The trial judge further ruled that the charge was **“appropriate in this – in this instance and, frankly, and any other CSC case and it will be instructed and there is case law to support that instruction.”**¹ R. 404, ll. 13 – 19 (emphasis added).

¹ Judge Jefferson did not have the benefit of *Stukes* when she made her ruling. Nevertheless, the issue is preserved and appellant receives the benefit of *Stukes* on appeal. See *State v. Brown*, 401 S.C. 82, 95, 736 S.E.2d 263, 269 (2012) (ruling that Court of Appeals properly applied new rule of law on appeal from case decided after trial judge’s ruling).

Child was only seven years old at the time of trial. R. 70, ll. 22 – 24. As will be further explored in Issue 2, Child’s credibility was in question during pretrial motions. R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 16. Appellant objected to Child’s competency as a witness. R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 16. Having never heard Child testify in court, the trial judge refused to have a hearing on her competency based solely on her viewing of the forensic interview videotape and called the defense’s motion “superfluous.” R. 10, ll. 13 – 16. Appellant renewed this motion before and during Child’s testimony. R. 69, l. 15 – 70, l. 3. R. 73, ll. 6 – 74, l. 17.

Appellant is Child’s father. R. 73, ll. 5 – 21. Child had two sisters and four brothers. R. 70, ll. 3 – 5. When the alleged abuse occurred, Child, her mother, Candace Parks (“Candace”) and the rest of her family were living at “Uncle Mike’s” trailer. R. 73, ll. 1 – 8.

Child alleged that appellant committed a variety of sexual batteries, but was not always consistent in her allegations. R. 75, l. 6 – 130, l. 20. Child initially stated that appellant “did bad stuff” to her. R. 79, ll. 17 – 18. When asked to explain by the solicitor, Child stated, “he humped me and he put his finger inside me.” R. 79, ll. 19 – 22. She claimed this happened on the couch. R. 79, ll. 23 – 25. She defined “humped” as skin-to-skin genital contact. R. 80, 81, l. 2. When asked again by the solicitor, “What did hump mean,” Child replied, “it means he put his private in my private.” R. 81, ll. 6 – 8. Child then described vaginal penetration and oral sex. R. 81, ll. 11 – 23.

Child then responded inconsistently to questions about vaginal and anal sex. The solicitor asked again if appellant “ever put his penis in any other part of your body?” R. 82, ll. 18 – 19. Child replied, “Nope.” R. 82, l. 20. After changing the topic of questioning to the layout of Uncle Mike’s trailer, the solicitor asked Child, “Do you know what the word slobber

means?" and was able to get Child to describe appellant allegedly performing oral sex on her. R.

91, ll. 8 – 10. The solicitor then led Child back over the same ground:

Q. So just to go over and make sure what you have said happened, what did you say Daddy Jeremy did to your vagina?

A. Slobber.

Q. Okay. And did he put anything in your vagina?

A. His fingers.

Q. Anything else?

A. (No response)

Q. What about his penis?

A. No.

Q. Are you sure?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Did you just forget it, or why did you say no?

A. Just forget it.

Q. And, [Minor], did he put his penis anywhere else in your body?

A. In my mouth.

Q. In your mouth. What about anywhere else?

A. Nope.

Q. What about on your bottom?

A. Yes.

Q. And what is that?

A. A butt.

Q. And tell me about that. What happened with that?

A. He put his – I mean, his penis in my butt hole.

R. 91, l. 25 – 93, l. 4 (emphasis added).

Child stated that appellant, during the night, would carry her from her bedroom to the couch in the living room of Uncle Mike's trailer. R. 86, ll. 1 – 14. Two other children also slept in this bedroom. R. 86, ll. 1 – 3. Her mother, Candace, would be on the couch during these instances. R. 86, ll. 21 – 22. Child claimed that Candace watched the sexual abuse but did nothing. R. 86, l. 21 – 87, l. 10. R. 102, ll. 15 – 20. She stated she had seen Candace and appellant have sex on the couch. R. 102, ll. 21 – 25.

Child claimed that none of her brothers witnessed the abuse. R. 87, ll. 11 – 18. However, Child was sexually abused by one of her brothers. R. 103, ll. 17 – 24. The Court sustained the State's objection and prevented appellant from cross-examining Child further about this abuse, but during the *in-camera* proffer, stated that her brother had vaginal intercourse with her at Uncle Mike's trailer. R. 109, ll. 13 – 21.

On cross-examination, Child admitted meeting with the solicitors several times before trial. R. 98, l. 23 – 99, l. 20. She did not know how many times she had talked with people about the alleged abuse. R. 134, l. 24 – 135, l. 4. She remembered watching the videotape of a forensic interview. R. 135, ll. 5 – 9. Child remembered her mother offering her "Gummies, a Happy Meal, or a milk shake to talk to the nice lady." R. 135, ll. 13 – 16. When asked, "how many times has your mommy promised you something to talk about this," Child replied, "I don't know." R. 135, ll. 21 – 23.

The State's other star witness's credibility was also very much in question. Candace testified for the State under a proffer agreement. R. 171, ll. 18 – 25. Candace's understanding of the proffer agreement was "that what ever I said after I signed that proffer cannot be used against

me.” R. 171, ll. 21 – 24. Candace was not facing sexual abuse charges but a charge of unlawful neglect at the time of trial. R. 172, ll. 1 – 14. She claimed she had not been offered anything by the solicitor and was testifying “to try to help” her kids. R. 172, ll. 1 – 14.

Candace testified that appellant was sexually molesting Child. R. 169, ll. 22 – 170, l. 2. Candace said she “had caught [appellant] a few times. I seen it.” R. 177, ll. 15 – 24. Candace saw appellant sexually abuse Child more than four times but said she did nothing about it. R. 177, l. 23 – 178, l. 7. When she asked appellant to stop, she claimed appellant said, “It’s his daughter; he can do what he wants.” R. 179, ll. 5 – 12. The solicitor used this alleged statement by appellant as the very beginning of her opening statement and the final lines of her closing argument. R. 61, ll. 12 – 13. R. 432, ll. 23 – 25.

During cross-examination, Candace revealed that before moving in with Uncle Mike, she was living with the father of her three oldest boys. R. 223, ll. 9 – 23. Candace admitted fighting with appellant about child support owed by the father and wrote her attorney in Norbert Cummings’ office about it. R. 227, l. 23 – 228, l. 23. Defense counsel questioned Candace about a statement made during the forensic interview that Child was “sucking your ninnies.” R. 231, ll. 3 – 18. Candace replied, “I wasn’t aware if she was. I might have been drunk and passed out.” R. 231, ll. 17 – 20. She was forced to admit that her conduct may have been greater than simply being a passive observer because she “drank a lot.” R. 231, ll. 21 – 24. She had not yet pled guilty to unlawful conduct. R. 231, l. 25 – 232, l. 23. She admitted lying to doctors at M.U.S.C. R. 239, l. 10 – 240, l. 17.

The solicitor had to address Candace’s credibility during her closing argument telling the jury that she “is a disgusting, despicable person, but you have to evaluate her value as a witness.” R. 407, ll. 7 – 14. The solicitor also addressed whether Candace coached Child. R. 407, ll. 7 –

408, l. 15. She argued, “if Candace Parks was going to coach her child to say things that hurt [appellant], would she not be smart enough to coach her not to incriminate her?” R. 407, ll. 20 – 23.

The solicitor was also at pains to defend Child’s credibility during her closing argument. She argued that Child “did the best job she could to remember what she could.” R. 414, l. 24 – 415, l. 8. The State tried to explain differences between Child’s forensic interview and her testimony. R. 416, l. 2 – 417, l. 25. The solicitor stated that Child “does remember more on the tape, but that was two and a half years ago. If you notice, she is using more grown-up language in the courtroom.” R. 417, ll. 19 – 22. The solicitor also admitted that there were differences between Child’s forensic interview; Child’s testimony, and Candace’s testimony stating, “Are there differences? Yeah, there are differences.” R. 418, l. 1 – 419, l. 23. Finally, the solicitor relied on the forensic interviewer to explain Child’s odd demeanor on the stand arguing that anxiety produces “restlessness, giggling,” in nervous children. R. 427, l. 2 – 428, l. 16.

Defense counsel argued Child’s allegations were the result of prodding from DSS and, especially, Candace. R. 435, l. 4 – 439, l. 19. Arguing about the lack of evidence of physical injuries, defense counsel told the jury, “Candace made the effort over the course of the nine months she had solo with her daughter to go ahead and plant the seeds for this testimony that’s been going on during the course of the trial.” R. 442, l. 24 – 443, l. 6.

As shown above, the jury needed to believe Child and the “despicable” Candace to convict appellant. The Supreme Court has consistently ruled that where credibility is the central issue at trial, errors cannot be harmless. Stukes at 500, 787 S.E.2d at 483. In Stukes, the Court held that the case was not “amenable to a harmless error analysis” because the case “hinged on credibility.” Id. See also State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 219, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79-80 (2015)

(reversing in a child sex case because the case “turned solely on the credibility of the minor and of Appellant” and because the case lacked physical evidence of sexual abuse); State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 110, 771 S.E.2d 336, 341 (2015) (“The determination whether a bolstering error is harmless depends on whether the case turns on the credibility of the victim.”).

Child’s credibility was the central question in the trial. The trial judge did not give the Stukes charge during its general charge on witness credibility, but immediately after she defined the elements of the offense. R. 455, l. 10 – 457, l. 2. The placement of the Stukes charge after the elements of criminal sexual conduct emphasized that the jury could simply believe Child and caused confusion. Therefore, the trial judge’s erroneous charge cannot be harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt and this Court should reverse.

2.

The trial court erred in ruling that the child complainant was a competent witness based solely on its viewing of the tape of the forensic interview, refusing to examine the child in court, refusing the defense’s request for an independent competency evaluation, and in refusing to allow the defense to conduct *voir dire*.

Appellant filed a motion to exclude Child’s testimony for lack of competency to testify. R. 508. Appellant asked, in the alternative, for the court to order a competency evaluation by a child forensic psychiatrist. R. 508. Without ever hearing Child speak in Court, the trial judge overruled appellant’s objection to her competence as a witness. R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 16. Judge Jefferson called defense counsel’s motion “superfluous” and relied solely on her viewing of the videotape of the forensic interview. R. 10, ll. 13 – 16.

The State called Child as its first witness and before her testimony, defense counsel objected again at a bench conference. R. 69, ll. 7 – 70, l. 13. Defense counsel asked the court to

make a determination of her competency outside the presence of the jury. R. 69, ll. 15 – 19. The trial judge denied the request, reasoning that witnesses are presumed to be competent. R. 69, l. 20 – 70, l. 13.

After the solicitor's preliminary questions about the difference between a truth and a lie, appellant again objected at a bench conference and asked again for permission to question the child. R. 73, l. 1 – 74, l. 17. Interrupting defense counsel's argument, the trial judge denied the request stating, "I think I have enough perspective because I've seen more. She's competent; she knows the difference between the truth and a lie. If you want to impeach her, that's up to you. Regarding her ability to recall and otherwise, that wouldn't make her any less competent. There are adults who can't recall things." R. 74, ll. 9 – 16.

The trial judge erred in finding Child competent without an *in-camera* examination based on the court's viewing of a videotape and without giving appellant the opportunity to cross-examine Child outside of the presence of the jury. State v. Hudnall, 293 S.C. 97, 359 S.E.2d 59 (1987). In Hudnall, the Court reversed because the trial judge qualified the child witness "on the basis of the videotaped competency examination." Id. at 99, 359 S.E.2d at 61. The Court also ruled that "the trial judge should have presided during the competency examination of a witness of such tender years rather than determine her competence merely upon the viewing of a videotape." Id. "A judge's presence lends a courtroom-like atmosphere to better evaluate the witness's ability to appreciate the consequences of his or her testimony." Id. Here, the court failed to comply with any of Hudnall's requirements.

The error in appellant's case is more egregious than in Hudnall because the videotape here was of a forensic interview, not a competency examination. Forensic interviewers are no substitute for medical doctors and psychiatrists. Forensic interviewers are not experts in truth-

telling and do not offer scientific testimony. Chavis at 106-07, 771 S.E.2d at 338-39. See also State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). The Supreme Court reversed in Hudnall **despite** a competency evaluation. Here, the trial judge denied appellant's request for a competency evaluation by a psychiatrist and used a forensic interview as the basis of her decision.

The trial judge also erred by refusing to conduct an *in-camera* examination of Child and allow *voir dire*. South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Doe, 292 S.C. 211, 218-19, 355 S.E.2d 543, 547-48 (1987). In Doe, the Court ruled that a "judge must rely on his personal observations of the child's demeanor **and responses to inquiry on voir dire examination.**" Id. (emphasis added). The trial court here did not allow defense counsel to conduct *voir dire* outside of the presence of the jury. Defense counsel could not conduct an adequate cross-examination on this issue in front of the jury. By this point, Child had already testified and it was too late.

The trial judge's reasoning that Child was presumed competent was also erroneous. Id. "At common law, persons **fourteen years of age and older** are presumed competent to give evidence; **proof of competency is required for children under that age.**" Id. (emphasis added). Child was seven years old and could not be presumed competent.

"The test to determine a minor's competency to testify is whether the child is aware of right and wrong and understands the probability of punishment for lying." Hudnall at 99, 359 S.E.2d at 61. The solicitor's initial questions did not meet this test. R. 70, l. 17 – 72, l. 25. Child did not know her birthday. R. 70, l. 25 – 71, l. 2. Child said she was supposed to tell the truth in the courtroom and was able to declare that if the solicitor said a blue pen was pink, it would be a lie. R. 71, l. 22 – 72, l. 25. No inquiry was made about whether Child knew the difference between right and wrong. No inquiry was made about whether Child knew she would

be punished if she told a lie. She was only asked whether telling a lie was “good or bad.” R. 72, ll. 7 – 14.

The procedure used by the trial court failed to meet the requirements of Hudnall and Doe. Appellant was never allowed to examine the child on competency issues before her substantive testimony and outside of the presence of the jury. The court denied appellant’s request for a competency evaluation and relied on her own viewing of the tape of an unscientifically conducted forensic interview. This Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse and remand this case for a new trial.

A handwritten signature in black ink, consisting of several fluid, overlapping strokes that form a stylized representation of the name David Alexander.

David Alexander
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT