**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County  
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Number: 2015-002050

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JERAMY PARKS,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLET A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor  
Charleston, SC 29401

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

FEB 16 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley County

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Physical evidence and an eyewitness corroborated Victim's testimony; therefore the trial court's instruction that a victim's testimony need not be corroborated was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and the issue is not preserved for review.**

The trial court, pursuant to the Supreme Court's decision in State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 117-18, 631 S.E.2d 244, 250 (2006), instructed the jury that a rape victim's testimony need not be corroborated.<sup>2</sup> This instruction, previously found appropriate and consistent with the legislature's remedial intent by the Supreme Court in Rayfield,<sup>3</sup> ten years later was found confusing and unconstitutional by the Supreme Court in State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016).

In Stukes, the trial court instructed the jury on the no-corroboration requirement. While deliberating, the jury sent the trial court a note, asking: "[T]he South Carolina law that the victim's testimony in CSC . . . does not need to be corroborated, . . . does that law imply that the victim's testimony must be accepted as being true?" Rather than respond directly to the jury's question, the trial court recharged the general law on credibility. The jury immediately returned a guilty verdict. Stukes, 416 S.C. at 497, 787 S.E.2d at 482. The Supreme Court observed "it is inescapable that this charge confused the jury" as "illustrated by the jury's query as to whether our law implies a victim's testimony must be accepted as being true." Id. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483.

---

<sup>2</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 provides: "The testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under §§ 16-3-652 through 16-3-658." Instructing the jury on this statute was first found acceptable in State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993).

<sup>3</sup> Given Rayfield's finding that the instruction was consistent with legislative intent, the trial court and the prosecutor would have been remiss to not request the instruction and not carry out the legislative intent. The legislature met eight times between Rayfield and Stukes and did not alter the statute.

Turning to the trial court's reaction to the jury note, the Supreme Court lamented, "In our view the trial court's decision to merely recharge credibility, as opposed to answer the question in the negative, did nothing to inform the jury on this issue." Id. Reviewing for harmless error, the Supreme Court found the instruction was prejudicial because the case hinged on victim's credibility: the victim claimed to be raped; the defendant claimed it was consensual. Id.

In the instant case, Parks complains the corroboration charge was harmful because the jury "could simply believe Child . . . ." App. Br. p. 9.<sup>4</sup> However, the corroboration instruction is a correct statement of law; juries may convict if they believe the victim's testimony regardless of the lack of corroboration. If the jury correctly applied the law, there is no prejudice. The prejudice in Stukes was the jury appeared to misunderstand the instruction based on its note to the trial court. State v. Queen, 264 S.C. 515, 521, 216 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1975) (noting jurors are presumed to follow the trial court's instructions). In the instant case, there is no evidence the jury misunderstood the trial court's correct statement of law.

---

<sup>4</sup> Parks quotes the trial court out of context. The trial court observed, "And under – whether the testimony is corroborated or uncorroborated, and where generally, **as most cases of these type** are, they are credibility contests that comes down to one person's word against another, the law is very clear and therefore reason based on legislative intent that the word of a victim need not be corroborated." R. p. 404, lines 6-12 (emphasis added). Parks left the "most cases" clause out of the quote, which leaves the erroneous impression that the trial court was calling the present case a credibility contest.

The “materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). The harmless error doctrine preserves the central purpose of a criminal trial, which is to decide the factual question of a defendant’s guilt or innocence. State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (citing Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 306-08 (1991)). Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990).

The instant case is unusual for sexual abuse cases because there was an actual eyewitness. Candace, the biological mother, described multiple instances of child abuse. Further, physical evidence corroborated abuse: the exam indicated a cleft on Victim’s vagina and Victim’s anus was dilated. Finally, Parks told Candace in front of Victim’s aunt that if Parks went down, Candace was going down with him. Unlike Stukes, Parks was incapable of raising a consent defense and did not present a defense at trial. This is not a she said/he said case. This is a child said/mother witnessed it case. Accordingly, Parks was not prejudiced by the corroboration instruction.

Further, the issue is not preserved for review. Parks’ argument at trial was the instruction was not warranted because the Victim’s testimony was corroborated. Parks claimed “based on the evidence” the instruction would be confusing. R. p. 402, lines 7-13; p. 402, line 23 – p. 403, line 1; p. 403, lines 12-18. Parks did not argue the corroboration instruction was an unconstitutional comment on the facts as found in Stukes. State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”).

## II.

**The trial court did not abuse its wide discretion in finding the child victim was competent to testify, and the baseless motion was not made in good faith: defense counsel never articulated a reason to believe Victim might not be competent to testify.**

There was no basis to believe Victim was incompetent to testify. Referencing defense counsel's written motion, the trial court asked, "Are you abandoning this motion regarding incompetency or are you – do you want to proceed on this?" R. p. 9, line 25 – p. 10, line 2.<sup>5</sup> The trial court advised defense counsel she would address the motion "at the time [Victim] testifies, and that's limited to her ability to understand and know the difference between the truth and a lie." R. p. 10, line 5-8. The State confirmed there was no indication Victim was incompetent to testify. R. p. 10, lines 10-11. The trial court observed, "Based on what I saw in that tape, she is fairly articulate and she would know the difference between right and wrong, so I assume that's a superfluous motion." R. p. 10, lines 13-16. Parks did not counter the trial court's observation.

Despite any apparent good faith basis to believe Victim was incompetent to testify, Parks' counsel asked the trial court to determine Victim's competency in camera. R. p. 69. The trial court declined and noted Victim's competency could be established before the jury. Victim spelled her last name, testified she was seven years old, provided her address, and identified the members of her family. She named her school and testified she was in second grade. R. pp. 70-71.

The prosecutor asked Victim what Victim was supposed to talk about in the courtroom and Victim answered, "The truth." She told the prosecutor it was good to tell the truth, and it was bad to

---

<sup>5</sup> The motion was a written, conclusory motion asking for the trial court to exclude "the testimony of the alleged victim for lack of competency to testify." Parks' counsel did not offer any facts in the motion to support such a drastic ruling.

tell a story or a lie. She remembered that when she put her hand on the Bible, she promised to tell the truth. She testified she was going to tell the truth today. R. pp. 71-72.<sup>6</sup> Parks' counsel made an objection at the side bar. It was not coherent. Parks' counsel still did not explain any good faith basis to believe that there was a competency issue as opposed to merely a desire to harass the Victim. The trial court declined Parks' request to voir dire Victim, noting Parks would be able to impeach Victim on cross-examination. R. pp. 73-74.

After direct examination, and while addressing other issues in camera in the midst of Parks' cross-examination, the trial court made the following ruling on Victim's competency:

In response to voir dire questions, the State was able to establish her competency and I have found her to be competent to testify, and that is based on my observations of the child and her demeanor. It is clear to me that she does know the difference between right and wrong, truth and a lie, and it is also my observation that she is – at second grade, especially in light of all the things that our children are exposed to, fortunately, or unfortunately, they are not – I would – second grade is not that young.

A second grader is taught in school, not only at home, the difference between the truth and a lie, but she has clearly demonstrated the ability to know the consequences between the truth and a lie. **And based on my own observations of her, not just based – I know I made reference to the interview, but that is not the basis of my decision regarding her competency.**

She is inordinately mature, and that might be too strong of a word, but that's the crux of what I'm trying to convey for a child of her age and has an inordinate ability to communicate concepts, ideas, and – and she has responded quite frankly, better than some adults to questions. So I have no questions regarding her competency to testify and that objection is overruled, although I did it at a side conference.

---

<sup>6</sup> Parks notes in his brief Victim did not remember her birthday during direct examination. Hardly surprising given her likely nervousness, but she remembered her birthday on cross-examination. R. p. 101, line 13.

R. p. 118, line 22 – p. 119, line 24 (emphasis added).<sup>7</sup>

Every person in South Carolina is presumed competent to be a witness except as otherwise provided by statute or rule. Rule 601(a), SCORE; Sellers v. State, 362 S.C. 182, 607 S.E.2d 82 (2005); State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998). “A witness must have personal knowledge of the matter and must swear or affirm to tell the truth.” Needs, 333 S.C. at 142, 508 S.E.2d at 861. A person will be disqualified as a witness if the court determines that (1) the proposed witness is incapable of expressing himself to the judge or jury concerning the matter or (2) the proposed witness is incapable of understanding the duty of a witness to tell the truth. Rule 601(b), SCORE; see South Carolina Dep’t of Social Servs. v. Doe, 292 S.C. 211, 355 S.E.2d 543 (Ct. App. 1987) (noting that in making a determination respecting competency of a witness, the trial judge must rely on personal observation of the child’s demeanor and responses to questions posed).

In Needs, this Court determined that a “proposed witness understands the duty to tell the truth when he states that he knows that it is right to tell the truth and wrong to lie, that he will tell the truth if permitted to testify, and that he fears punishment if he does lie, even if that fear is motivated solely by the perjury statute.” Needs, 333 S.C. at 143, 508 S.E.2d at 861. To be competent to testify, “a witness must have the ability (1) to perceive the event with a substantial degree of accuracy, (2) remember it, (3) communicate about it intelligibly, and (4) be mindful of the duty to tell the truth under oath.” Id. at 143, 508 S.E.2d at 861 (citing Commonwealth v. Goldblum, 447 A.2d 234 (Pa. 1982)). The party opposing a witness bears the burden of proving the witness is incompetent. Id. The determination of a witness’s competency to testify is a question for the trial court, and the trial

---

<sup>7</sup> Parks erroneously claims the trial court’s ruling was made based on the trial court’s viewing of recording of the forensic interview and “[w]ithout ever hearing [Victim] speak in Court” even

court's decision will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. Id.; see also TNS Mills, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't of Rev., 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E.2d 471 (1998); State v. Green, 267 S.C. 599, 230 S.E.2d 618 (1976). After the trial court properly determines if a witness is competent, the resolution of the credibility of the witness is within the province of the jury. Id. at 144, 508 S.E.2d at 862. "Trial judges in South Carolina, as elsewhere, are allowed a wide discretion in the trial of cases. This is as it should be because a trial judge experiences 'a feel of the case' which oftentimes may not be detected from a cold printed record." State v. Perry, 278 S.C. 490, 494, 299 S.E.2d 324, 326 (1983).

"The test to determine a minor's competence to testify is whether the child is aware of right and wrong and understands the probability of punishment for lying." State v. Hudnall, 293 S.C. 97, 99, 359 S.E.2d 59, 61 (1987).<sup>8</sup> Parks relies on Hudnall without reciting the low threshold necessary to allow a child to testify. In Hudnall, unlike the present case, the trial court determined competency based solely on a video-taped competency evaluation. Further, the Supreme Court lamented the poor quality of the video recording and noted the child's "responses to questioning indicate she is incapable of distinguishing right from wrong, truth from falsehood, or reality from make-believe." Id.

Despite counsel's tacit admission – by his silence – that no basis existed to doubt the child's credibility, Parks argues on appeal that Victim should have been evaluated. The Supreme Court held a trial judge has the discretion to order the complainant be examined where the defendant **can show a compelling need**. In re Michael H., 360 S.C. 540, 548-49, 602 S.E.2d 729, 733 (2004).

---

though the ruling occurred following direct examination. Br. of App. p. 9.

<sup>8</sup> *Overruled on other grounds by* State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993).

Specifically, the Supreme Court noted: “We adopt these guidelines, recognizing the serious and significant competing interests presented in this case and similar cases involving child victims. In such cases, a trial judge is, and must be, vested with broad discretion in the conduct of trial.” Id.

In Michael H., the minor’s attorney moved for a mental evaluation of the complainant out of concerns about the questionable mental health of the complainant: counseling records<sup>9</sup> showed the five year old complainant was hearing voices and complainant said the voices made him say bad things. Id. In the instant case, the motion was made without any offer of proof that competency was an issue and seemed to be made merely for purposes of harassing or intimidating Victim. See People v. Beauchamp, 483 N.Y.S.2d 946 (N.Y. App. Div. 1985) (finding “children are not discoverable items”). Parks’ counsel made the motion without any evidence to show a compelling need.

Child witnesses are required to carry out incredible acts of courage by being called to the stand to testify about the abuse they suffered at the hands of the abuser who is sitting in the courtroom. Their dilemma is described as follows in a recent legal journal:

Children of all ages are approaching the bench, being sworn in by a judicial officer, and are asked to sit in a room full of adults to discuss potentially traumatizing and embarrassing events of their victimization. The average adult is intimidated by the criminal justice system and is generally not knowledgeable about court proceedings. The system is even more perplexing for children, especially when asked questions far above their developmental level.

Fanscher, Ashley and del Carmen, Rolando V., “The Child As Witness”: Evaluating State Statutes on the Court’s Most Vulnerable Population, 36 Child. Legal Rts. J. 1 (Spring, 2016).

---

<sup>9</sup> Parks’ counsel was likewise provided Victim’s counseling records. R. pp. 8-9.

In the present case, the trial court quickly surmised Parks' counsel was simply making a frivolous pro forma motion and counsel made no effort to advise the trial court otherwise – counsel's silence proves the frivolous nature of the motion. Nonetheless, the trial court made the ruling after observing Victim's demeanor and specifically noting her ruling was not based on Victim's demeanor in the video recording, differentiating the present case from Hudnall. Undoubtedly, Victim understood the difference between a truth and a lie and the consequences of lying. Of course, Parks' counsel presented no basis for the pretrial motion and even the cold record establishes Victim's competency to testify. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.